# **RECEIVED** 09-08-2014

# CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2013 AP 1108 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JESSE J. DELEBREAU,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

# BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Appeal from Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Motion To Suppress Statements Entered In Brown County Circuit Court, The Honorable Mark A. Warpinski, Presiding

> Stephen P. Hurley Wisconsin Bar No. 1015654 Marcus J. Berghahn Wisconsin Bar No. 1026953

Hurley, Burish & Stanton, s.c. Counsel for Jesse J. Delebreau 33 East Main Street, Suite 400 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 [608] 257-0945

#### **

#### **ISSUE**

Was Jesse Delebreau's right to counsel under the state and federal constitutions violated when:

- Delebreau was in custody because of his alleged involvement in a controlled delivery of heroin for which the investigator had recommended criminal prosecution to the District Attorney's Office;
- Delebreau appeared in court in relation to a criminal charge for the very same controlled delivery;
- at his initial appearance, at which the District Attorney was present, Delebreau was represented by counsel;
- a day after his initial appearance, Delebreau was questioned about the very same offense conduct alleged in the criminal complaint;
- at the time of the interrogation Delebreau was in custody;
- Delebreau's counsel was not notified of the interrogation, and he was not present during the interrogation;
- at the outset of the interrogation Delebreau was advised of his right to counsel under *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), but he signed no written waiver of the right;
- the investigator took no steps to learn what became of the criminal charge he requested be filed against Delebreau, nor whether Delebreau had been charged, appeared in court or was represented by counsel; and

• when, during the interrogation, Delebreau made passing mention of the criminal complaint, the investigator never asked whether he had appeared in court or was represented by counsel.

The Circuit Court found that Delebreau's Sixth Amendment right to counsel had not been violated. R34; R111:55. The Court of Appeals, citing *Montejo v. Louisiana*, 556 U.S. 778 (2009), agreed. App. 65.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The reasons for granting review also counsel for oral argument and publication, which rightly is this Court's usual practice.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the investigator violated Jesse Delebreau's right to counsel requires this Court to determine, under the facts presented, whether Delebreau's right to counsel under the state or federal constitution attached, and, if so, whether he later waived that right.

Resolving an issue of constitutional fact requires a circuit court to apply constitutional principles to evidentiary or historical facts. *State v. Martwick*, 2000 WI 5, ¶ 17, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552. A constitutional fact is one that is "decisive of constitutional rights." *Id.* When reviewing issues of constitutional fact, this Court engages in a two-step analysis. Id.

First, as it relates to the circuit court's decision in a suppression matter, a deferential, or clearly erroneous, standard is applied to the circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical facts. *Id.* at ¶ 18; *State v. Coerper*, 199 Wis. 2d 216, 221–22, 544 N.W.2d 423 (1996).

Then this Court reviews the application of constitutional principles to the historical facts. *Martwick*, 2000 WI 5, ¶ 17. On the latter question, this Court is not bound by the determination of the circuit court. *State v. Kramar*, 149 Wis. 2d 767, 781, 784, 440 N.W.2d 317 (1989). The application of constitutional principles to the historical facts are reviewed independently. *Martwick*, 2000 WI 5, ¶ 18; *State v. Dagnall*, 2000 WI 82, 236 Wis. 2d 339, 354-55, 612 N.W.2d 680, 687; *State v. Ward*, 2009 WI 60, ¶ 17, 318 Wis. 2d 301, 767 N.W.2d 236; *State v. Forbush*, 2011 WI 25, 332 Wis. 2d 620, 628-29, 796 N.W.2d 741, 745-46.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. This is an appeal from Jesse Delebreau's criminal conviction in Brown County Circuit Court. On May 22, 2014, this Court granted review to address an issue first raised by Delebreau in the Circuit Court relating to the admission of statements made by him to a police investigator. The statements at issue were made by Delebreau while he remained in jail one day *after* he appeared in court for an initial appearance (and with counsel); the questioning related to the offense for which he was charged in the criminal complaint.

Procedural Status. Jesse Delebreau was charged in Brown County Circuit Court with delivery of heroin, as a party to the crime, a violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1)(d)1. R1; App 1. Prior to trial Delebreau challenged the admissibility of two recorded statements he made to police while in custody and after his right to counsel had attached following his initial appearance on the criminal charge. R22. Delebreau argued that the admission of these recorded statements violated his constitutional rights under both the state and federal constitutions. Id. Delebreau's motion was denied by the Circuit Court. R34. Delebreau sought leave to appeal this non-final order in the Court of Appeals. R35. His petition for an interlocutory appeal was denied. R36.

On September 26, 2012, the case was tried to a jury. Delebreau's video-recorded statements to police were presented to the jury in an edited and condensed form during the investigator's testimony. R122:144; ex. 6 & 7. The jury found Delebreau guilty. Delebreau was sentenced on November 29, 2012; and the judgment was entered a day later. R95.

Delebreau pursued a timely appeal. R94. The Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction in a published decision. *State v. Delebreau*, 2014 WI App 21; App 65. As to the issue presented for review here, the

Court of Appeals held that because *Montejo v. Louisiana*, 556 U.S. 778 (2009), was controlling, "The trial court properly denied Delebreau's motion to exclude his statements." App. 73. Delebreau timely petitioned for review raising claims under both the state and federal constitutions. This Court granted review and appointed counsel.

Disposition in Courts Below. Jesse Delebreau was sentenced on November 29, 2012, not only for the delivery of heroin that forms the conviction from which he appeals, but two other files as well; one charging bail jumping and the other, a charge of operating a motor vehicle while impaired. Judge Thomas Walsh sentenced Delebreau to a four year term of initial confinement, which is to be followed by a four year term of extended supervision. R95; R126:29. Judge Walsh also imposed a two year sentence for a conviction for bail jumping, concurrent to the sentence imposed for delivery of heroin as a party to the crime. *Id.* Delebreau is in prison now.

*Facts.* Testimony from the jury trial established why Jesse Delebreau found himself in jail speaking to an investigator for the Brown County Drug Task Force, Roman Aronstein. This interrogation happened the day after Delebreau appeared in court for an initial appearance—at which time he was represented by counsel—but his counsel was not present during the interrogation.

On February 21, 2011, Brett Johnson, a confidential informant working for the Brown County Drug Task Force arranged to purchase cocaine and heroin from Christopher Woodliff. R122:51. Johnson told the jury that he knew Woodliff from prior drug deals. *Id.*, at 64.

Johnson worked as a confidential informant in order to avoid being charged for the possession of drugs, including heroin, *id.*, he admitted

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Neither case figures in this appeal.

to working for the Task Force after he overdosed on heroin. *Id.*, at 63. This was neither the first nor last time that Johnson worked as an informant. *Id.*, at 63-65.

On this occasion, Johnson was instructed to purchase drugs. His actions would be monitored by investigators. *Id.* Johnson wore a wire (with audio and video recording capability) and he was given \$200 in pre-recorded money to purchase the drugs. *Id.* 

Once inside, Johnson testified that he saw Woodliff and two other males, one of whom was cutting the others' hair. *Id.*, at 53. Johnson described Delebreau as the individual whose hair was being cut, *id.*, at 54, though he did not know Delebreau from prior contacts. *Id.*, at 56. Later, Johnson identified Delebreau through a photographic array. *Id.*, at 64, 70.

Johnson asked Woodliff for two bags of crack cocaine and two bags of heroin and then gave Woodliff the money that the investigators had provided to him. *Id.* Johnson claimed that Woodliff returned \$80 to him and that Woodliff then asked Delebreau whether he had any bindles left. *Id.* 

Johnson testified that he gave \$80 to Delebreau. *Id.*, at 55. Then, according to Johnson, Delebreau and Woodliff left the room and entered a bathroom. *Id.* Johnson did not join Delebreau and Woodliff in the bathroom. *Id.* When they returned, Johnson claimed that Delebreau handed him two baggies containing what he believed to be heroin. *Id.*, at 56. Johnson testified that Woodliff provided him with cocaine and, after he received the drugs, he remained for another 45 minutes or so. *Id.*, at 57.

Johnson later gave four baggies of drugs, along with the recording equipment to an investigator. *Id.*, at 59. Roman Aronstein maintained the evidence until it was placed into the evidence lock-up. *Id.*, at 138.

The heroin allegedly sold to Johnson was weighed at the State Crime Laboratory. An analyst testified that the two packages of heroin had a combined weight of 0.013 grams. R122:98.

A video recording of the transaction was introduced at trial. R71, ex. 5; R122:62. The recording contradicted key parts of Johnson's testimony, despite the fact that Johnson told the jury that he had reviewed his statements and the recordings in preparation for his testimony at trial. R122:69-70. For example, Johnson admitted that he did not hand money to Delebreau. But, after the video he said "I handed [the money] to Mr. Woodliff who I saw, in turn, hand it to Mr. Delebreau." *Id.*, at 66. Contrary to Johnson's testimony, the recording did not show Woodliff and Delebreau go to the bathroom. *Id.* And Johnson admitted that Delebreau did not hand any heroin to him. *Id.*, at 68. The drugs, Johnson now explained, were given to him by Woodliff. *Id.* 

Christopher Woodliff was also charged and convicted in relation to the sale of cocaine to Johnson on multiple occasions, including on February 21, 2011. Woodliff testified at Delebreau's trial. Independent of the video recording Woodliff recalled few details. *Id.*, at 123. He recalled selling cocaine to Johnson on February 21, 2011. *Id.*, at 116. Woodliff claimed that Delebreau sold heroin to Johnson. *Id.*, at 117. But Woodliff could not give details about Delebreau's purported transaction. He recalled something that Johnson had not: "Dave might have been holding the heroin for [Delebreau]." *Id.*, at 124. But no other witness testified about this. Johnson and Woodliff were the only witnesses to testify at trial with personal knowledge of the purported drug transaction.

Delebreau, who was on probation at the time, was taken into custody on or about March 31, 2011, likely on a probation hold. Investigator Aronstein knew that Delebreau was on supervision at the time. R111:11-12. Aronstein "is sure" that he informed Delebreau's

probation agent of the fact that Delebreau was implicated in the delivery of heroin. *Id.*, at 21. Aronstein referred criminal charges related to the February 21, 2011 controlled buy to the Brown County District Attorney's Office in early April, 2011, but in any case well before his meeting with Delebreau at the Brown County Jail.

Aronstein explained that he received a note from Delebreau asking for a meeting. R111:11. Delebreau's note was either sent or received—the record is unclear as to which—about one week prior to the jail interrogation, so about April 8, 2011.<sup>2</sup> *Id.*, at 10.

Aronstein was well aware that Delebreau would face criminal charges for the delivery of heroin. He claimed to not know what came of the referral. *Id.*, at 14.

On April 14, 2011, Jesse Delebreau appeared in Brown County Circuit Court for an initial appearance. R104. A criminal complaint filed that day by the Brown County District Attorney's office alleged delivery of heroin, as a party to a crime, on February 21, 2011. R1. Delebreau appeared before Court Commissioner Gazeley with counsel, Attorney William Fitzgerald.<sup>3</sup> R104. The District Attorney was present and the appearance was entered on CCAP. *Id*.

Commissioner Gazely set cash bail in the amount of \$15,000. At the request of attorney Fitzgerald, the hearing was continued for two weeks. *Id.*, at 4. Attorney Fitzgerald explained that Delebreau

7

 $<sup>^{2}\,</sup>$  No note was ever introduced as evidence at either the motion hearing or the trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On the day of Delebreau's initial appearance, April 14, 2011, *State v. Forbush*, 2011 WI 25, 332 Wis. 2d 620, 796 N.W.2d 741, had been briefed and argued, but the case was not decided until later that month, on April 29, 2011—one day after Delebreau's continued initial appearance.

has read the complaint. I believe he understands the nature of the charge. We'll waive a reading today. We'll request a preliminary hearing, but ideally, it's a situation where we'll ask the State to tell us if we have a conflict with respect to the confidential informant.

*Id.*, at 2. (There is no dispute that Delebreau was represented by counsel and charges were filed on April 14, 2011. R111:25-26.)

The day after his initial appearance charging delivery of heroin, as a party to the crime, Delebreau was interrogated by investigator Aronstein at the Brown County Jail. R111:13. There is no evidence that, after he appeared in court and with his counsel, Delebreau made any effort to seek out the investigator. Because of the potential for a conflict, Delebreau had no opportunity to discuss with his attorney whether he ought speak to, or possibly even cooperate with, the investigator.

Aronstein made no effort to ascertain whether Delebreau's right to counsel had attached: he did not check with the District Attorney's office about the criminal referral. *Id.*, at 21. Nor did he access CCAP to see whether Delebreau had been charged. *Id.* Aronstein did not ask Delebreau whether he had been charged. *Id.*, at 22. Nor did Aronstein ever ask Delebreau whether he was represented by counsel. *Id.* 

Before starting the interrogation, Aronstein activated the audio/video recording capability for the room. R122:143. He then read Delebreau the *Miranda* warning. *Id.*; R111:15. Aronstein testified that Delebreau waived his rights and that he did not ask for counsel. *Id.*, at 16-17. Delebreau never signed a written acknowledgment of his right to assistance of counsel.

When, during the interrogation, Aronstein showed Delebreau a portion of the video taken by Johnson, both Delebreau and Aronstein made

reference to "paperwork." In context, this most reasonably meant the criminal complaint that was given to Delebreau one day earlier.<sup>4</sup>

Three days later Aronstein returned to interrogate Delebreau a second time. R111:17. The interrogation took place in the same room. *Id.* Again, the interrogation was audio and video recorded. Before the second meeting, Aronstein made no effort to check whether a criminal complaint had been filed against Delebreau or whether he had counsel. R111:22. Again, as the second meeting began, Aronstein read Delebreau the *Miranda* warning. *Id.*, at 19. As before, Delebreau did not sign a written acknowledgment of his right to assistance of counsel.

Early in their second meeting Aronstein told Delebreau that Aronstein had spoken with the prosecutor a few times since the first interrogation and two times that very same day; Aronstein said that he informed the prosecutor that Delebreau was cooperative and that Aronstein would be meeting with Delebreau again.<sup>5</sup> Despite these meetings—if they occurred—Aronstein still claimed not to have known that a criminal complaint had been filed, nor that Delebreau had appeared in Court for an initial appearance nor that Delebreau had counsel. R111:22.

Aronstein testified that during their second meeting Delebreau made a statement about not wanting to hire a private lawyer to defend him on the charges. Aronstein's report of interrogation makes no mention of Delebreau's reference to a lawyer, but at the motion hearing Aronstein explained that

 $<sup>^{4}\,</sup>$  This exchange occurs at about 36 minutes into the first recorded interrogation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This occurred about 5:40 into the second video. If true, WIS. SCR 20:4.2 ought have caused the prosecutor to direct Aronstein not to interrogate Delebreau.

I noted that approximately half hour into the interview, Mr. Delebreau indicated that he wasn't going to be able to beat these charges and that with an attorney and that it was just going to cost him \$10,000, and he was going to end up going to prison anyway so he might as well just cooperate with law enforcement.

R111:19. Delebreau's statement, he said, "made me believe that no meeting with an attorney occurred, thus [Delebreau] had no intentions of doing so." *Id.*, at 20.

The two recorded interrogations were later edited and condensed for use at trial. The initial hour-long interrogation was condensed to about three minutes; the second hour-long interrogation was condensed to about two minutes. R122:144; R71, ex. 6 & 7.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Jesse Delebreau's right to counsel attached on April 14, 2011. On that day he appeared in Brown County Circuit Court for an initial appearance. At this hearing Delebreau was represented by counsel. In every sense, the adversarial process in regard to the allegation that Delebreau had delivered heroin to an informant on February 21, 2011, was underway.

Under *State v. Dagnall*, 2000 WI 82, 236 Wis. 2d 339, 612 N.W.2d 680, which then still applied, statements made by Delebreau during an incustody interrogation the day after his initial appearance at which his counsel was not present should not have been admitted at Delebreau's trial. Consistent with Wisconsin precedent, the interrogation violated Delebreau's right to counsel under the state constitution.

Delebreau's appearance in court with his lawyer sufficiently invoked his right to counsel. The record of Delebreau's invocation of his right to counsel is more clear than the invocation of the right to counsel accepted by this Court in *State v. Dagnall*, 2000 WI 82, 236 Wis. 2d 339, 612 N.W.2d 680, and *State v. Forbush*, 2011 WI 25, 332 Wis. 2d 620, 796 N.W.2d 741. Among other details, those two cases involved an invocation of counsel and interrogation prior to an initial appearance in a Wisconsin court. The rule of *Montejo v. Louisiana*, 556 U.S. 778 (2009), allowing police to interrogate a represented defendant after his right to assistance of counsel has attached at an initial appearance and placing the onus on the defendant to re-invoke his right to counsel at the time of the interrogation is "inconsistent with both the letter and the spirit of our law." *State v. Dagnall*, 2000 WI 82, ¶ 59. Because *Forbush* controls, *Montejo*, does not sanction the admission of statement made during an interrogation with a represented defendant.

While the Circuit Court found that the investigator did not know that Delebreau was represented, R111:44, the evidence suggests otherwise. More than ten years before Delebreau's interrogation our Court warned that investigators "must not avoid discovering whether an accused has invoked his Sixth Amendment right to counsel." *Dagnall*, 2000 WI 82, ¶ 51; *Forbush*, 2011 WI 25, ¶ 54. At best, that is exactly what the investigator did here: he took a calculated chance. He interrogated Delebreau weeks after he referred charges to the district attorney. By failing to check court records and never asking Delebreau whether he had appeared in court—even when Delebreau mentioned reading "paperwork" about the incident—the investigator did his level best to avoid learning the truth about whether Delebreau had invoked his right to counsel.<sup>6</sup>

Procuring statements from Delebreau about the purported sale of heroin on the day after the initial appearance (on the very same criminal charge), and then using those statements against him at trial on the very same charge denied Delebreau basic constitutional protections found in the state and federal constitutions. *See Massiah v.* 

You may infer knowledge from a combination of suspicion and indifference to the truth. If you find that a person has a strong suspicion that things were not what they seemed or that someone withheld some important fact, yet shut his or her eyes for fear of what he or she would learn, you may conclude that he or she acted knowing as I have used that work. You may not conclude that the defendant had knowledge if he or she is merely negligent in not discovering the truth.

*United States v. Carrillo*, 435 F.3d 767 (7th Cir. 2006) (affirming district court's decision to instruct jury on conscious-avoidance).

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