## **RECEIVED**

09-29-2014

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COUR WISCONSIN

No. 2013AP1108-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JESSE J. DELEBREAU,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION AND ORDER OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS,
DISTRICT III, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. WALSH, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff- Respondent

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

*Id.* at 794.

Montejo thus concluded that Jackson was unnecessary where Miranda, Edwards and Minnick already provided sufficient safeguards to ensure a knowing and voluntary waiver of the right to counsel for persons represented by counsel. Id. at 795-96. Jackson's additional layer

of protection only served to guarantee "voluntariness on stilts." *Id.* at 796. Further, the costs of the *Jackson* rule—which deterred police from even seeking confessions from persons who may have been willing to voluntarily waive the right to counsel—were substantial, and outweighed any marginal benefits of the rule. *Id.* 

In overturning Jackson, the court expressly rejected the approach of the Louisiana Supreme Court in Montejo's case. Montejo, 556 U.S. at 783-85. The Louisiana court had held that Jackson's protections extended only to persons who request counsel, not to those like Montejo who are assigned counsel and do not take affirmative steps to invoke the Sixth Amendment right. Id. at 782-83. Thus, police could seek to interview in custody persons who had been appointed counsel without making any express assertion of the right to counsel, but not those who had requested to have counsel appointed or had hired counsel on their own. See id. at 783-85. The Montejo court called this approach "troublesome," and concluded that it would "lead either to an unworkable standard, or to arbitrary and anomalous distinctions between defendants in different States." Id. at 783-84.

Secondarily. the Monteio court also concluded that a represented defendant's assertion of the right to counsel must be clear and unequivocal to be valid. See id. at 797-98. Delebreau's case does not implicate this holding of Montejo because there is no suggestion that Delebreau made statements to police representing an assertion of the right to counsel (equivocal or unequivocal) at any time. Delebreau's contention is only that the appointment of counsel itself served to "invoke" his right to counsel and

rendered invalid his subsequent *Miranda* waivers of the right to counsel.

C. Under *Montejo* and *Forbush*, Delebreau's preinterview *Miranda* waivers were sufficient to waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

In Forbush, this court was presented with the issue of whether *Montejo* effectively overruled its interpretation of the Sixth Amendment in Dagnall. See generally Forbush, 332 Wis. 2d 620. On this question, five justices expressly agreed: Montejo overruled Dagnall. Forbush, 332 Wis. 2d 620, ¶¶ 58, 64, 74 n.1 & n.6 (Abrahamson, C.J., concurring); ¶¶ 118, 120, 132-38 (Crooks, J., 157(Ziegler, J., dissenting). dissenting); Nonetheless, a divided court in Forbush reversed the court of appeals, with four justices concurring in the mandate under three different rationales. Forbush, 332 Wis. 2d 620, ¶¶ 1-56 (Roggensack, J., lead opinion); ¶¶ 57-81 (Abrahamson, C.J., concurring, joined by Bradley, J.); ¶¶ 82-117 (Prosser, J., concurring).

Delebreau's case gives this court an opportunity to plainly announce for the bench, bar and law enforcement the rule endorsed by a majority of the *Forbush* court: That an uncounseled *Miranda* waiver is sufficient for a represented person to waive his or her Sixth Amendment right to counsel before a custodial interview.

#### 1. Forbush.

a. Circuit Court and Court of Appeals'
Decisions.

Chad Forbush was charged in a 2008 criminal complaint with attempted second-degree sexual assault and false imprisonment. *Forbush*, 332 Wis. 2d 620, ¶ 3 (Roggensack, J., lead opinion). Forbush was arrested in Michigan, with the assistance of Michigan counsel, and waived extradition to Wisconsin. *Id.* Upon his arrival, Forbush was questioned in custody by a detective, and made inculpatory statements. *Id.* ¶ 4.

Forbush moved to suppress his custodial statements before trial, and the circuit court granted his motion. *Id.* ¶ 7. The State appealed. *Id.* ¶ 8. During the pendency of the appeal, the Supreme Court decided *Montejo*. *State v. Forbush*, 2010 WI App 11, ¶ 2, 323 Wis. 2d 258, 779 N.W.2d 476, *rev'd*, 2011 WI 25, 332 Wis. 2d 620, 796 N.W.2d 741.

After receiving supplemental briefs, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals reversed the circuit court's order, concluding that *Montejo* had effectively overruled this court's interpretation of the Sixth Amendment in Dagnall. Forbush. Thus, assuming that 323 Wis. 2d 258, ¶ 2. Forbush's retention of Michigan counsel on the extradition issue meant that Forbush represented by counsel on his Wisconsin charges at the time of the interviews, his *Miranda* waiver of his right to counsel was sufficient to waive his custodial statements. *Id.* ¶¶ 4, 5, 17 and n.2. Further the court of appeals declined Forbush's

invitation to save the *Dagnall* rule under the state constitution, concluding that the protections of art. I, § 7 of the state constitution were identical those provided in the Sixth Amendment to the federal constitution. *Forbush*, 323 Wis. 2d 258, ¶¶ 14-16.

b. The Wisconsin Supreme Court's Forbush opinions.

On review, this court reversed the court of appeals' decision with four justices concurring in the mandate under three separate rationales. Below is a summary of each of the five opinions filed in this court's decision in *Forbush*, 332 Wis. 2d 620.

### Justice Roggensack's Lead Opinion.

Applying a narrow interpretation Montejo, the lead opinion concluded that Montejo "does not sanction the interrogation" in Forbush's case. Forbush, 332 Wis. 2d 620, ¶ 2 (Roggensack, J., lead opinion).<sup>8</sup> The lead opinion read *Montejo* to apply only to the "certain circumstances" of that case, where Montejo had been appointed counsel, but the Supreme Court could not determine whether Montejo had subsequently statements unequivocally invoking his right to counsel. Id. ¶ 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In this section, the parenthetical stating the author of the opinion under discussion, *e.g.*, (Roggensack, J., lead opinion), is provided with the first citation, but is omitted in subsequent citations for readability.

According to the lead opinion, "[t]he *Montejo* decision did not conclude that a charged defendant affirmatively invoked who has his Sixth Amendment right to counsel by retaining and receiving the services of a lawyer for the offenses charged must 're-invoke' his Sixth Amendment right to counsel every time law enforcement attempts to interrogate him."  $Id. \ \P \ 35$ . opinion suggested that this conclusion was compelled by a pre-Jackson case, Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964). Id.

The lead opinion also discussed Wisconsin law at length, but declined to conclude that art. I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution provided greater for defendants than the protection Sixth Amendment. See id., ¶¶ 41-51. Instead, upon summarizing Dagnall and other Wisconsin cases, Justice Roggensack concluded that "the fundamental constitutional principles underlying those decisions" were "compelling" and "sound policy" for Wisconsin. *Id.* ¶ 50.

Justice Roggensack then summarized *Montejo*'s impact on *Dagnall* as follows:

I affirm the reasoning of Dagnall as controlling on the issue of the right to counsel for a defendant who has affirmatively invoked his right to counsel by requesting and receiving the services of counsel for pending charges. I agree with the State that Montejo did modify Dagnallsuch that there is presumption of a Sixth Amendment violation due to police interrogation of a represented defendant when the "certain circumstances" of defendant match those of defendant-Montejo.

*Id.* ¶ 51.

Applying this standard to the facts, Justice Roggensack emphasized the fact that, in this case (unlike *Montejo*), Forbush had taken affirmative steps to hire an attorney: "Under the undisputed facts herein presented, Forbush affirmatively invoked his Sixth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 rights to counsel by retaining and receiving the services of counsel for the crimes charged . . . . " Id. ¶ 55. Justice Roggensack also relied on the circuit court's finding that the authorities knew that Forbush was represented when they interviewed him: "I reaffirm that authorities must not avoid discovering whether an accused has invoked his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. *Dagnall*, 236 Wis. 2d 339, ¶ 51, 612 N.W.2d 680." Id. ¶ 54.

In a final footnote, the lead opinion declared that "this is not a waiver case, i.e., the question presented is not whether Forbush waived his right to counsel during [the detective's] interrogation. This is an invocation case, i.e., the question presented is whether Forbush invoked his Sixth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 rights to counsel." *Id.* ¶ 55 n.20.

# Chief Justice Abrahamson's Concurring Opinion, Joined By Justice Bradley.

The Chief Justice's concurring opinion began by addressing the lead opinion's precedential value, explaining that it "has none" because it was joined by no other justice. *Id.* ¶ 57 (Abrahamson, C.J., concurring).

Chief Justice Abrahamson then joined many of the criticisms of the lead opinion expressed in Justice Crooks' dissenting opinion (discussed at pp. 23-26 below).

First, the Chief Justice stated that she "agree[d] with Justice Crooks' criticism of Justice Roggensack's reasoning regarding Wisconsin law and *Montejo v. Louisiana*, 556 U.S. 778, 129 S.Ct. 2079, (2009)." *Id.* ¶ 58. The Chief Justice agreed with Justice Crooks that the lead opinion's interpretation of *Montejo* "lacks foundation in the text of the decision." *Id.* ¶ 58 n.2.

Second, the Chief Justice joined Justice Crooks' criticism of the lead opinion's reliance on "fundamental constitutional principles" and "sound policy," stating that "a determination of an accused's constitutional rights is tethered to the text of a constitution." Id. ¶ 58, n.2.

Third, the Chief Justice agreed with Justice Crooks that *Montejo* erased any distinctions that still remained between invocation of the Fifth Amendment and the Sixth Amendment, and noted that *Montejo* thus overruled *State v. Hornung*, 229 Wis. 2d 469, 600 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1999) (requirement that a person "unequivocally" assert the right to counsel did not apply to represented persons), and invalidated the portion of *State v. Ward*, 2009 WI 60, ¶ 43 n.5, 318 Wis. 2d 301, 767 N.W.2d 236, that cited *Hornung*. *Id*. ¶ 64 n.6. The Chief Justice stated: "I agree with Justice Crooks that the protections for the right of counsel should be same for the Fifth and Sixth Amendments." *Id*. ¶ 64 n.6.

Fourth, the Chief Justice agreed with Justice Crooks that the supreme court in Dagnall "interpreted the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, not the Wisconsin Constitution." Id. ¶ 62.

Finally, the Chief Justice reached the same conclusion as Justice Crooks regarding the continued viability of Dagnall: "The United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Sixth Amendment in Montejo supersedes our interpretation of the Sixth Amendment in Dagnall and our previous interpretations of the Sixth Amendment." Id. ¶ 64 & n.6.

The Chief Justice then stated that she would hold that, "under the Wisconsin Constitution, an accused is afforded the protections this court previously described in Dagnall... to be attached to the Sixth Amendment." Id. ¶ 71. "Applying the holding of Dagnall to the Wisconsin Constitution, I conclude that Forbush 'was not required to invoke the right to counsel in this case because he had been formally charged with a crime and counsel had been retained to represent him on that charge." Id. ¶ 71 & n.17 (citing Dagnall, 236 Wis. 2d 339, ¶ 4).

### Justice Prosser's Concurring Opinion.

In this opinion, Justice Prosser acknowledged that the *Montejo* decision, by overruling Jackson, "undercut many of the major underpinnings of Dagnall, which relied heavily on Jackson's reasoning." Id. ¶¶ 82-83 (Prosser, J., concurring).

Nonetheless, Justice Prosser concluded that, because Dagnall was the rule of law in Wisconsin at the time of Forbush's 2008 custodial interview, when "the advent of the *Montejo* ruling was barely a glimmer in Justice Scalia's eye," the circuit court was correct in suppressing Forbush's custodial *Id.* ¶¶ 93, 103. statements. Justice Prosser concluded that the officers' decision to request an interview with the represented Forbush was to the guidance provided Wisconsin Department of Justice, The Miranda Primer: A Handbook for Law Enforcement (Feb. 2004). Id. ¶ 102. "[L]aw enforcement should not be rewarded for disregarding settled law in anticipation that someday it may be overruled," Justice Prosser concluded. Id. ¶ 104.

Regarding future cases, Justice Prosser recognized that "Montejo is unquestionably the current controlling law on the subject of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel," but added that "neither this court nor law enforcement currently has the benefit of the inevitable explanation, application, and modification of the principles that Montejo so recently announced." Id. ¶ 116. "Whether rights afforded by the Sixth Amendment will require additional protection in this state remains to be determined." Id. ¶ 114.

### Justice Crooks' Dissenting Opinion, Joined By Justices Ziegler And Gableman.

In this opinion, Justice Crooks concluded that "Montejo's clear and emphatic rejection of the Jackson rule effectively overrules Dagnall, as the court of appeals appropriately concluded." Id. ¶120 (citing State v. Forbush, 2010 WI 11, ¶ 13,

323 Wis. 2d 258, 779 N.W.2d 476) (Crooks, J., dissenting)

Justice Crooks' opinion includes a detailed summary of the *Montejo* decision. See id. ¶¶ 121-28. In overruling Jackson, Justice Crooks explained that the *Montejo* Court determined that the protections offered by *Miranda*, Edwards and Minnick already ensured the voluntariness of a defendant's decision to talk to law enforcement. Id. ¶ 124 & n.4. What little additional protection the Jackson rule offered against police badgering was outweighed by its substantial costs, which include deterring law enforcement from obtaining voluntary confessions. Id. ¶ 124.

Upon summarizing *Montejo*, Justice Crooks asserted that "the United States Supreme Court's definitive interpretation of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel in *Montejo* clearly invalidates Justice Roggensack's reasoning for upholding *Dagnall.*" *Id.* ¶ 129. "[I]t simply is not possible to read *Montejo* as narrowly as Justice Roggensack desires," explained Justice Crooks. *Id.* ¶ 132.

Justice Roggensack insists that *Montejo* is limited to the "certain circumstances" presented in *Montejo*, which she vaguely asserts as "a charged defendant for whom counsel had been appointed by the court, but for whom the Supreme Court could not determine whether he had actually invoked his right to counsel and the protections that would then flow from *Edwards*." Justice Roggensack's op., ¶ 34 (citing *Montejo*, 129 S. Ct. at 2091–92). Justice Roggensack does not provide a single case from any court that has interpreted or limited *Montejo* in this way. I also found none. To the extent

Justice Roggensack attempts to limit *Montejo* based on the Court's decision to remand to allow Montejo to make an argument that he "made a clear assertion of the right to counsel when the officers approached him," that is merely a reference to the legal standard after Montejo: a defendant cannot "invoke his Miranda rights anticipatorily, context other than 'custodial interrogation." Montejo, 129 S. Ct. at 2091 (quoting *McNeil*, 501 U.S. at 182 n.3) (emphasis added).

*Id.* ¶ 132 (footnotes omitted). Justice Crooks then explained that the "certain circumstances" in *Montejo* merely "refers to those in *Jackson*, where the defendant had affirmatively requested counsel." *Id.* ¶ 134.

Justice Crooks also criticized the lead opinion's reliance on "fundamental constitutional principles": "Justice Roggensack essentially concludes that when we interpreted and applied the Sixth Amendment right to counsel in *Dagnall*, we created 'fundamental constitutional principles' separate and independent from the federal constitution on which they were based. Justice Roggensack's op., ¶¶ 42, 50. This is a novel and unsupported interpretation." *Id.* ¶ 139 (footnote omitted).

Justice Crooks also noted that "the United States Supreme Court disposed of the distinctions between the Fifth and Sixth Amendment right to counsel in *Montejo*." *Id.* ¶ 128. "[S]ince the right under both sources is waived using the same procedure," Justice Crooks explained, "doctrines ensuring voluntariness of the Fifth Amendment

waiver simultaneously ensure the voluntariness of the Sixth Amendment waiver." *Id.* 

Justice Crooks also criticized the analysis in Justice Prosser's concurrence as recognizing "an anomalous bad faith corollary to the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule" that "has never been recognized by any other court." Id. ¶¶ 118, 141.

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